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[Mepiinym :
The Church of Sts. Sergios and Bakchos (today Kiglk Ayasofya Camii) was built by Justinian | (527 — 565) and his wife Theodora probably
between 530-533 for the M onophysite community that was housed in the Hormisdas Palace at time when the imperial couple had already moved
from there to the Imperial Palace (in 527). The domed octagonal nave is outlined by a continuous gallery on two floors with columns at the four
corners of the nave arranged to form semi-circular niches. In this respect the church is usually regarded as a precursor of Justinian”s Hagia Sophia.
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built 530-533; reconstr. after 869
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Sts Sergius and Bacchus
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To the south-west of the hippodrome, on the Marmara shore

1. Thebuildersand the original function of the church

Sts. Sergios and Bakchos or Sergius and Bacchus (today Kiigiik Ayasofya Camii), located on the Marmara shore of the First Hill,
just inside the wall circle and south-west of the impressive substructures of the south curved end of the hippodrome, is one of the
most important surviving monuments of the early Byzantine period. The church was built by Justinian | (527-565) and his wife
Theodora in the Hormisdas Palace that was their private residence before Justinian became the emperor. An impressive dedicatory

inscription, carved around the nave in the rich entablature, name the royal patrons.! The capitals also bear the monograms of Justinian
and Theodora, though no cruciform monograms have been found, which should indicate an early date, but no earlier than 527, since

Theodora's name is also attested. The evidence, therefore, date the monument to the period 527-533, more likely 530-533.2

Despite its location inside the palace complex, the church of Sts. Sergios and Bakchos cannot be regarded as a palace chapel,
because it was built to serve the Monophysite community that was housed in the Hormisdas at time when the imperial couple had
already moved from there to the Imperial Palace (in 527).2 Monophysites claiming that Christ has only one nature were taken as
heretics by the Orthodox church that teaches that Christ has two natures, one divine and one human. Nevertheless, they were
favoured by the Empress Theodora, which explains why they were allowed to use the Hormisdas Palace as a shelter and were given
such amagnificent church. The situation changed after Theodora's death, as Justinian preferred Orthodoxy and he moved the
community elsewhere.

2. Neighbouring palace church of Sts. Peter and Paul

The church shared, in the early Byzantine period, a and with Sts. Peter and Paul.* The latter was the palace chapel of
Justinian’s Hormisdas Palace and was probably situated to the north of Sts. Sergios and Bakchos, because the excavations along the
south facade carried out during the restoration of the building in 2004 did not reveal any remains of a structure that could be identified
asthe church of Sts. Peter and Paul.® The dedication of Justinian’s church in his private residence to Sts. Peter and Paul appears to
have been motivated by the reconciliation of Justin I, Justinian’s uncle, with the papacy, thus ending the Acacian schism.® Moreover,
Justinian apparently asked in 519 the Pope Hormisdas for sending relics of the two apostles and St. Lawrence for his new palace
church.” Unlike slightly later Sts. Sergios and Bakchos, Sts. Peter and Paul was built in the traditional manner as a basilica with
straight rows of columns dividing itsinterior in , thus similar to the early churches of Constantinople (Theotokos in
Chalkoprateia, St. John Stoudios).
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Sts. Peter and Paul was abandoned probably soon after the 6! century, but Sts. Sergios and Bakchos became the centre of a
monastery of the same nametill the late Byzantine period.2 The Book of Ceremoniesinforms us that a corridor connected the church
with the Palace so that the emperors could go directly from their residence to the of the church.®

3. Architecture of the church of Sts. Sergios and Bakchos

The church of Sts. Sergios and Bakchos is externally rectangular and internally octagonal in plan and is covered with alarge dome. It
shares its closest structural parallels with three churches erected also in the Justinianic period: S. Vitale in Ravenna, St. John the
Baptist in Hebdomon (modern Bakirkdy, part of Istanbul) and Archangel Michael in Anaplous (on the European shore of Bosphorus,
modern Arnavutkdy).1? The domed octagonal nave is outlined by a continuous gallery on two floors, which envelops the nave to the
north, west and south. The nave , which is composed of sixteen ribs with eight windows, is supported on eight wide arches that
fal on eight heavy piers forming an octagon. The space between the piersis spanned by twenty-eight marble columns, two in each
bay with the exception of the bema. The upper gallery columns are interlaced with small arches whereas the columnsin lower
colonnades carry an architrave. Columns at the four corners of the nave are arranged to form semi-circular niches that are crowned
with semi-domes at the upper gallery level. To the west, the gallery joins a double-story narthex, separated only by a series of
columns and piers. According to arecent research, the narthex is a later addition!® (but it probably dates also to the sixth century as
can be judged from its pure brick masonry).

Triple arched windows provided originaly light for the enveloping galleries on both levels. Only the lower triple window in the middle
of the south Justinianic wall of the church is still @most intact. Its columns show that window frames were once attached to them.
Columns and capitals of the south upper triple window were replaced in the Byzantine period but the original appearance of that part
of the upper gallery has not changed much since the sixth century (but it has changed profoundly on the exterior of the south flank —
see below). On the other hand, triple windows in the north wall have almost disappeared. The upper north triple window is no longer
visible from the interior of the church but its remnants can be recognized on the facade. The same could be also said until recently
about the lower north triple window. However, the restoration of the building, which was finished in 2006, uncovered parts of
columns belonging to it. During the mentioned restoration work a Byzantine-period marble floor was found in the south-east corner of
the church. It has been decided to leave it visible for the visitors and is covered only with glass.

As mentioned above, the south side of the church underwent profound changes in the Byzantine period. The south flank of the
building is composed of two pardlel, interconnected walls. The inner wall belongs to the origina Justinianic church. The outer wall,
part of which are massive buttress piers connecting the two south walls, was built later than the main body of the church, possibly

between the 7t and 10th century on the basis of the masonry (it shows aternating bands of brick and stone while the Justinianic
church has pure brick masonry). The facade is articulated by three broad brick arches at the groundfloor level (originally part of an
arcade, now blocked) to which smaller arches at the gallery level (only fragmentary remnants of which survive) are centred. Sts.
Sergios and Bakchos was reconstructed by Basil | (867-886) (perhaps after the earthquake of 869) and this indicates that the outer

south wall may have been built during his reign.1?
4. Evaluation

The Church of Sts Sergios and Bakchos is a fine example of the inventiveness of architects and designersin the years of Justinian I.
The principle of the architectural design compares with that of Hagia Sophia of Constantinople, in that it proposes a similar method of
transition from the outer quarter shell to the trilevel domed core, which is here octagonal. The volumes interpenetrate as the center
space loses its clarity and expands into the niches, and from the niches out into the enveloping spatial shell. The execution of the
church's highly sophisticated scheme is rather ambivalent, probably due to the constraints of empirical building practice a the time;
thus the seemingly regular octagon actualy has sides of different length, the arches are rather clumsy and the proportions are
somewhat low, while the irregularity of the site has complicated the adaption of the ambitious planning on it. But the overall
impression is that of a sophisticated exemple of the architectural development of this period, with its innovative molding of space and
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manipulation of light. The refined sculptural decoration, with its dynamic forms and sharp contrasts of shadow and light, the result of
the ample use of the drill, certainly add to the general impression. These elements will appear on a vastly enlarged scale in Justinian's
Great Church, Hagia Sophia, in spite of the two monuments' many differences in planning and architectural solutions. San Vitdein
Ravennais another variant, slightly simplified but more masterly applied, of the subtle planning seen in Sts Sergios and Bakchos. Such

imperial commissions «represent an architecture developed to appeal to the discriminating taste of the 6!-century elite». 13
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IN\woocdp1o :
aide

The part of the naos of a church set off by the internal rows of piers or columns, namely by the structures supporting the roof.
atrium

1. Antiquity: The large, open space within a building, which is envelopped by colonnades.
2. Byzantium: The forecourt of a church in early Christian, Byzantine, and medieval arcitecture. It was usually surrounded by four porticoes
(quadriporticus).

dome

A characteristic element of Byzantine architecture. The dome is a hemispherical vault on acircular wall (drum) usually pierced by windows. The
domed church emergesin the Early Byzantine years and its various types gradually prevail, while they are expanded in the Balkans and in Russia.

gdlery

The upper level of a house where the women resided. In ecclesiastical architecture it is the corridor above the aisles and narthex of a
church, from where women attended the Liturgy. Originally (in the Byzantine period) the gallery, having a special entrance, was used
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exclusively by the emperor and the members of the royal family.
narthex
A portico or arectangular entrance-hall, parallel with the west end of an early Christian basilicaor church.

Inyég
Procopius, De Aedificis, english translation in Dewing, H.B. with Downey, G. (ed. and trans.), Procopius, Buildings (Loeb Classical Library,
Cambridge MA 1961), 1.4.1-8.

Van Millingen, A., Byzantine Churches in Constantinople: Their History and Architecture (London, 1912), fig. 20 (for the dedicatory inscription
in Greek)

[opaBéporo

The entablature dedicative inscription, translated in english by C. Mango

Other sovereigns have honoured dead men whose labour was unprofitable, but our sceptered Justinian, fostering piety, honours
with a splendid abode the Servant of Christ, Begetter of all things, Sergius; whom not the burning breath of fire, nor the sword, nor
any other constraint of torments disturbed; but who endured to be slain for the sake of Christ, the God, gaining by his blood heaven
as his home. May he in all things guard the rule of the sleepless sovereign and increase the power of the God-crowned Theodora

whose mind is adorned with piety, whose constant toil lies in unsparing efforts to nourish the destitute.

Mango, C. «The Church of Saints Sergius and Bacchus at Constantinople and its alleged tradition of ocragonal palatine churches»,
Jahrbuch der Osterreichen Byzantinistik 21 (1972), p. 190.

Xpovoroylo
530-533: Sts. Sergios and Bakchos built by Justinian I and Theodora for the Monophysite community accomodated in the Hormisdas

Palace

548: after Theodora’s death Justinian moved the Monophysites to the House of Urbicius, in Strategion's area, and the church perhaps
served to the Orthodox monastery established in part of the Hormisdas Palace

551: Pope Vigilius sought a refuge in the church

second half of the 6th c.: the papal legates residing in the nearby Ta Plakidias palace complex in the sixth century were allowed to
use the church

9th century: the monastery was one of the centres of the orthodox oposition to the official iconoclastic policy of the empire
after 869: church reconstructed by Basil I, perhaps after the earthquake of 869

10th - 15th c.: church mentioned rarely but it probably housed some relics and the monastery was still functioning in the fifteenth
century

16th c.: church was converted into a mosque by Kiiciik Hiiseyin aga b. Abdiilhay (died around 1510) in the reign of the Sultan Beyazit
II (new decoration of the interior, new furnishing and the west porch)

1740: restoration of the mosque (known as Kii¢iik Ayasofya Camii) by the Great Vesir Haci Ahmet Pasga; the minaret on the south-
west corner built in 1760’s

1870: construction of the railroad immediately south of the church; since then more and more frequently passing trains have shaked
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the church and endangered its stability

1940: minaret almost completely demolished

1956: erection of a new minaret

1999: strong earthquake caused damages to the structure of the mosque (visible cracks in the vaulting)
2001: mosque appeared on ICOMOS’ Heritage at Risk list

2004 - 2006: major reconstruction of the building



